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1. DISCLAIMER 

This information memorandum is to introduce the subject matter and provide a general 
idea and information on the said matter. Although, the material included in this document 
is based on data/information gathered from various reliable sources; however, it is based 
upon certain assumptions, which may differ from case to case. The information has been 
provided on as is where is basis without any warranties or assertions as to the correctness 
or soundness thereof. Although, due care and diligence has been taken to compile this 
document, the contained information may vary due to any change in any of the concerned 
factors, and the actual results may differ substantially from the presented information. 
SMEDA, its employees or agents do not assume any liability for any financial or other loss 
resulting from this memorandum in consequence of undertaking this activity. The 
contained information does not preclude any further professional advice. The prospective 
user of this memorandum is encouraged to carry out additional diligence and gather any 
information which is necessary for making an informed decision, including taking 
professional advice from a qualified consultant/technical expert before taking any decision 
to act upon the information. 

For more information on services offered by SMEDA, please contact our website: 
www.smeda.org.pk 

 

Document Control 
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Prepared by SMEDA-Balochistan 
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2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell Manufacturing Unit is proposed to be located at any industrial 
zone throughout Pakistan nearby pharmaceutical industries. 

The finished product would be halal gelatin capsule. 

The Installed unit would have the capacity to produce 180,000 packets (1000 units per 
packet) per year and initially operate at 65% capacity utilization. 

Total Cost Estimated is Rs. 95,928,110 with fixed investment of Rs. 81,274,235 and 
working capital of Rs. 14,653,875 

Given the cost assumptions IRR and payback are 40% and 3.42 years respectively. 

Moreover the project is set to employ 16 employees.  

The most critical considerations or factors for success of the project are: 

• The proposed project must be established in the adjoining areas of major cities 
where pharmaceutical industries are established. 

• The finished product must be produced through halal raw material so that it can be 
differentiated from already available alternatives. 

 
• The main feature of the project would include Hard Gelatin Capsule prepared 

according to international quality standards. 

 
• Selection of proper equipment and staff would be required to run project 

successfully. 

 
• Procurement of raw material from trusted suppliers and below market rates.  
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3. INTRODUCTION TO SMEDA 

The Small and Medium Enterprises Development Authority (SMEDA) was established in 
October 1998 with an objective to provide fresh impetus to the economy through 
development of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs).  

With a mission "to assist in employment generation and value addition to the national 
income, through development of the SME sector, by helping increase the number, scale 
and competitiveness of SMEs", SMEDA has carried out ‘sectoral research’ to identify 
policy, access to finance, business development services, strategic initiatives and 
institutional collaboration and networking initiatives.  

Preparation and dissemination of prefeasibility studies in key areas of investment has been 
a successful hallmark of SME facilitation by SMEDA.  

Concurrent to the prefeasibility studies, a broad spectrum of business development services 
is also offered to the SMEs by SMEDA. These services include identification of experts 
and consultants and delivery of need based capacity building programs of different types in 
addition to business guidance through help desk services. 
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4. PURPOSE OF THE DOCUMENT 

The objective of the pre-feasibility study is primarily to facilitate potential entrepreneurs in 
project identification for investment. The project pre-feasibility may form the basis of an 
important investment decision and in order to serve this objective, the document/study 
covers various aspects of project concept development, start-up, and production, 
marketing, finance and business management.   

The purpose of this document is to facilitate potential investors in Hard Gelatin Capsule 
Shell Manufacturing Unit by providing them with a general understanding of the 
business with the intention of supporting potential investors in crucial investment 
decisions. 

The need to come up with pre-feasibility reports for undocumented or minimally 
documented sectors attains greater imminence as the research that precedes such reports 
reveal certain thumb rules; best practices developed by existing enterprises by trial and 
error, and certain industrial norms that become a guiding source regarding various aspects 
of business set-up and it’s successful management. 

Apart from carefully studying the whole document one must consider critical aspects 
provided later on, which form basis of any Investment Decision. 

 

5. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT & PRODUCT 

Following key parameters must be addressed as per pre-feasibility study under preparation. 

  

• Technology: This proposed unit is likely to be equipped with state of the art 
machinery moreover plant would be able to produce 75000 units per hour. 

• Location: The proposed project must be established in the adjoining areas of major 
cities where pharmaceutical industries are already operational. 

• Product: The main feature of the project would include halal Hard Gelatine 
Capsule prepared according to international quality standards. 

• Target Market: In addition to local markets in Karachi, Lahore and Islamabad an 
enormous export market for the halal Gelatin capsules exists in Europe, USA, 
Middle East, Hong Kong, Taiwan, etc. 

• Employment Generation: The proposed project will provide direct employment to 
16 people. Financial analysis shows the unit shall be profitable from the very first 
year of operation. 
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6. PRODUCTION PROCESS FLOW  

 
Hard gelatin capsule shell is composed largely of gelatin. Other than gelatin, it may 
contain materials such as plasticizer, colorants, opacifying agents, and preservatives which 
either enable capsule formation or improve their performance. Hard gelatin capsules also 
contain 12–16% water, but the water content can vary, depending on the storage 
conditions. 
 
 
 Gelatin 
 
Gelatin is by far the most common and most well-known material used to produce hard 
capsule shells. It is a generic term for a mixture of purified protein fractions obtained from 
irreversible hydrolytic extraction of collagen obtained from the skin, white connective 
tissue, and bones of animals. 
 
Depending on the source of the collagen and the method of extraction, two types of gelatin 
can be produced – type A gelatin and type B gelatin. Type A gelatin is made from pork 
skin via acid hydrolysis and has an isoelectric point between 7.0 and 9.0. Type B gelatin is 
prepared by alkaline hydrolysis of bovine bones and has an isoelectric point between 4.8 
and 5.0. Because of this difference in isoelectric points, both gelatins show solubility 
differences at different pH values. 
 
Traditionally capsules may be manufactured by using both types of gelatin, but 
combinations of pork skin and bone gelatin are often used to optimize shell characteristics 
because bone gelatin contributes firmness, whereas pork skin gelatin contributes plasticity 
and clarity. 
Gelatin derived from Gelatin grade is further specified by bloom strength. This is 
measured in a Bloom Gelometer which determines the weight in grams that is required to 
depress a standard plunger in a 6.67% w/w gel under standard conditions. 
Gelatin is stable in air when dry but is subject to microbial decomposition when it becomes 
moist. 
 
 
Plasticizer 
 
Plasticizers are added to gelatin to reduce the rigidity of the polymer and make it more 
pliable. Common examples of plasticizers are glycerin and polyhydric alcohol. Water is 
also a good plasticizer and is naturally present in the gelatin. 
 
 
Colorants 
 
Most frequently, hard gelatin capsules are colored to enhance the aesthetic properties and 
also to act as a means of identifying the product. Colorants used must meet the regulatory 
requirements of those countries where the product will be sold. Examples of commonly 
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used capsule colorants include synthetic dyes such as azo dyes and xanthene dyes. Iron 
oxide pigments are also used. 
 
Opacifying agents 
 
Opacifiers (e.g., titanium dioxide) may be included to make clear gelatin opaque. Opaque 
capsules may be employed to provide protection against light or to conceal the contents. 
 
 Preservatives 
 
Preservatives (often parabens esters) were formerly added to hard capsules as an in-process 
aid in order to prevent microbiological contamination during manufacture. Manufacturers 
operating their plants to Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) guidelines no longer use 
them. In the finished capsules, the moisture levels, 12–16% w/ v, are such that the water 
activity will not support bacterial growth because the moisture is too strongly bound to the 
gelatin molecule. 
 
 

 
 
 
Hard gelatin capsules are manufactured using a dip-coating method and the various stages 
involved are as follows: 
 
 
Step 1:    Preparation of the gelatin solution (dipping solution) 
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A concentrated solution of gelatin is prepared by dissolving the gelatin in demineralized 
water which has been heated to 60–70°C in jacketed pressure vessels. This solution 
contains 30 – 40% w/w of gelatin and is highly viscous, which causes bubbles as a result 
of air entrapment. The presence of these bubbles in the final solution would yield capsules 
of inconsistent weight and would also become problematic during capsule filling and upon 
storage. To remove the air bubbles, a vacuum is applied to the solution; the duration of this 
process varies with batch size. 
 
Following the above steps, colorants and pigments are added to attain the desired final 
capsule appearance. At this stage, other processing aids may be added, such as sodium 
lauryl sulfate, to reduce surface tension. The solution viscosity is measured and adjusted as 
needed with hot demineralized water to achieve the target specification. 
 
The viscosity of the gelatin solution is a critical parameter as it affects the downstream 
manufacturing process and plays a major role in capsule shell wall thickness. After 
physical, chemical, and microbiological testing, the gelatin is released for capsule 
production. The gelatin solution is then transferred to temperature-controlled tanks on the 
dipping machine where it is fed continuously into the dipping dishes. 
 
 
Step 2:  Dip-coating the gelatin solution on to metal pins (moulds) 
 
Capsule shells are manufactured under strict climatic conditions by dipping pairs (body 
and cap) of standardized steel pins arranged in rows on metal bars into an aqueous gelatin 
solution (25 – 30% w/w) maintained at about 50 ° C in a jacketed heating pan. Because the 
moulds are below the gelling temperature, the gelatin begins to form a thin gelatin layer or 
film on the moulds. 
The rows of pins are arranged so that caps are formed on one side of the machine while 
bodies are simultaneously formed on the opposite side of the machine 
 
 
Step 3:  Rotation of the dip-coated pins 
 
Following adsorption of the gelatin solution on to the surface of the pins, the bar 
containing the pins is removed and rotated several times to evenly distribute the solution 
around the pins, correct gelatin distribution being critical to uniform and precise capsule 
wall thickness and dome strength. 
 
 
Step 4: Drying of the gelatin-coated pins 
 
Once the gelatin is evenly distributed on the mould, a blast of cool air is used to set the 
gelatin on the mould. At this point, the gelatin is dried, and the pins are then passed 
through several drying stages to achieve the target moisture content. 
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Step 5: Stripping and trimming 
 
After the gelatin is dried, the capsule is stripped off the mould and trimmed to the proper 
length. 
 
 
Step 6: Joining of the trimmed capsule shell 
 
Once trimmed, the two halves (the cap and body) are joined to the pre-closed position 
using a pre lock mechanism. At this point, printing is done if needed before packing in 
cartons for shipping. 
 
 

7. INSTALLED AND OPERATIONAL CAPACITIES 

The proposed manufacturing unit is set to operate at 65% capacity utilization initially and 
shall increase its production by 5%. 
 
The proposed manufacturing plant has the ability to produce 117,000 units per hours. The 
proposed plant is set to operate for 8 hours per day however production can be increased if 
needed.   
 

8. CRITICAL FACTORS 

• Trained and specialized human resource should be hired which could play vital role 
projects success  

• Continuous efforts should be made to upgrade technology. 
• Gelatin produced through halal sources should be used  
• End product should be halal and certified. 
• Gelatin having higher levels of bloom should be used. 

 

9. GEOGRAPHICAL POTENTIAL FOR INVESTMENT 

The global empty capsules market was valued approximately USD 3.8 Billion in 2019. 
And the market is expected to reach $4.7 billion by 2026, the market is expected to grow at 
a CAGR of 6%. Capsules are relatively stable shells that contain or encapsulate medicines, 
which are administered in a variety of dosage forms. 
Empty capsules are of two types in the market namely, gelatin capsules and non-gelatin 
capsules, of these, the vegetable/non-gelatin capsules are expected to witness considerable 
demand in the coming years. This is attributed to the preference for the same among the 
consumers due to its natural or non-animal origin. 
 
The size of global Halal products market including all Halal food, non-food products has 
reached to US$ 2.3 trillion per annum, out of which Global Halal Meat Market is worth 
US$ 2,951.1 million and it is growing at rapid pace. 
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 The worldwide production amount of Gelatin is about 375,000 tons per year (roughly 827 
million lb.). The non-food components like Gelatin, Personal Care & Cosmetics and 
Pharmaceutical goods constitute 33% of the global Halal products market. 
This market has emerged as a new growth sector in the global economy and is creating a 
strong presence in developed countries. 
The most promising halal markets are the fast-growing economies of the Asia, Middle 
East, Europe and the Americas. With a growing consumer base, and increasing growth in 
many parts of the world, the industry is set to become a competitive force in world 
international trade. The halal industry has now expanded well beyond the food sector 
further widening the economic potentials for halal. 
 
POTENTIAL TARGET CUSTOMERS / MARKETS 

Initially local market would be targeted however with maturity markets seeking halal 
products could be explored. 
 
 

10. PROJECT COST SUMMARY 

 

9.1 Project Economics 
All the figures in this financial model have been calculated for estimated sales of Rs.167 
million in the year one. The capacity utilization during year one is worked out at 65% with 
5% increase in subsequent years up to the maximum capacity utilization of 95%. 

The following table shows internal rate of return, payback period and net present value of 
the proposed venture. 

Table 1: Project Economics 

Description Details 

 Internal Rate of Return (IRR)  40% 

 Payback Period (yrs.)  3.42 

Net Present Value (Rs.) 166,022,544 

9.2 Project Financing 
 
Following table provides details of the equity required and variables related to bank loan; 

 

Table 2: Project Financing 

Description Details 
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Total Equity (50%) Rs. 47,964,055 

Bank Loan (50%) Rs. 47,964,055 

Markup to the Borrower (%age / annum) 16% 

Tenure of the Loan (Years) 10 
 
 
 

9.3 Project Cost 
Following fixed and working capital requirements have been identified for operations of 
the proposed business.  
 

Table 3: Project Cost 

Capital Investment           Rs. in actuals  
 Land                                5,250,000  
 Building/Infrastructure                                6,325,000  
 Machinery & equipment                              66,200,000  
 Furniture & fixtures                                   495,000  
 Office vehicles                                1,890,000  
 Office equipment                                   107,000  
 Pre-operating costs                                1,007,235  
 Total Capital Costs                            81,274,235  
            
 Working Capital           Rs. in actuals  
 Equipment spare part inventory                                     24,375  
 Raw material inventory                              10,725,000  
 Upfront insurance payment                                3,404,500  
 Cash                                   500,000  
 Total Working Capital                            14,653,875  
            
 Total Investment                            95,928,110  
 
 
 
 
 

9.4 Space Requirement 
The space requirement for the proposed Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell Manufacturing Unit is 
estimated 10500 sq.ft. Considering various facilities including management office, 
production hall, storage, open space, etc. Details of space requirement and cost related to 
land & building is given below; 
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Table 4: Space Requirment 

Description Estimated Area 
(Sqft) 

Unit Cost (Rs.) Total Cost 
(Rs.) 

Management Office                   500 1,200 600000 

Cafeteria 2000 800 1600000 

Factory 7000 500 3500000 

warehouse 500 1200 600000 

Pavement/driveway 500 50 25000 

Total   6325000 
 
 
 
 

9.5 Machinery & Equipment Requirement 
Plant, machinery and equipment for the proposed project are stated below 
 

Table 5: Machinery & Equipment 

Description  Quantity Unit Cost  
(Rs.) 

Total Cost 
(Rs.) 

Automatic capsule making machine 1 65,000,000 65,,000,000 
generator 1 1,200,000 1,200,000 
Total   66,200,000 
 
 

9.6 Furniture & Fixtures Requirement 
Details of the furniture and fixture required for the project are given below 
 

Table 6: Furniture & Fixture 

Description  Quantity Unit Cost 
(Rs.) 

Total Cost 
(Rs.) 

furniture 1  300000 
Electric wiring & lighting 1  100,000 
Air conditioners (2 ton split) 1  95,000 
Total   495,000 
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9.7 Office Equipment Requirement 
Following office equipment will be required for Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell 
Manufacturing Unit. 
 

Table 7: Office Equipment 

Description  Quantity Unit Cost 
(Rs.) 

Total Cost 
(Rs.) 

Laptop 1  75000 
Computer printer Scanner and Copier 1  25000 
Telephones 2  3500 
Total   107,000 
 
 

9.8 Human Resource Requirement 
In order to run operations of Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell Manufacturing Unit smoothly, 
details of human resources required along with number of employees and monthly salary 
are recommended as under;  
 

Table 8: Human Resource Requirment 

Description No. of Employees Monthly Salary per 
person (Rs.) 

Manager 1 75000 

Accounts and admin officer 1 45000 

Operations manger 1 65000 

Lab assistant 1 40000 

supervisor 2 20000 

helpers 10                     18500 
 

9.9 Revenue Generation 
Based on the capacity utilization of 65%, respectively, sales revenue during the first year 
of operations are estimated as under;  
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 Revenue Generation – Year 1 

Description No. of Units 
Produced (No.) 

Sale Price / 
unit (Rs.) 

Sales Revenue 
(Rs.) 

Hard gelatin capsule  117,000 1,430 167,310,000 
 
 
 
 

11.  CONTACT DETAILS 

In order to facilitate potential investors, contact details of private sector Service Providers 
relevant to the proposed project be given. 
 
 

10.1 Machinery and raw material Suppliers 

Name of 
Supplier 

Name of 
the 

company 

Phone Fax E-mail Website 

Gelatin 
supplier 

Ravi 
gelatin 
private 
limited  

0303-
3480125 

 Hrravigelatin@gmail.com  

Machinery 
supplier. 

Rotech (86)-21-
34223215 

(86)-21-
34223217 hans@rotech-group.com www.Rotech-

group.com 
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12. USEFUL WEB LINKS 

 
 
Small & Medium Enterprises Development Authority (SMEDA) www.smeda.org.pk  

Government of Pakistan www.pakistan.gov.pk  

Ministry of Industries & Production www.moip.gov.pk 

Ministry of Education, Training & Standards in Higher Education http://moptt.gov.pk 

Government of Punjab www.punjab.gov.pk 

Government of Sindh www.sindh.gov.pk 

Government of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa www.khyberpakhtunkhwa.gov.pk 

Government of Balochistan www.balochistan.gov.pk 

Government of Gilgit Baltistan www.gilgitbaltistan.gov.pk 

Government of Azad Jamu Kashmir www.ajk.gov.pk  

Trade Development Authority of Pakistan (TDAP) www.tdap.gov.pk  

Security Commission of Pakistan (SECP) www.secp.gov.pk 

Federation of Pakistan Chambers of Commerce and Industry 
(FPCCI) 

www.fpcci.com.pk 

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) www.sbp.org.pk 

Punjab Small Industries Corporation www.psic.gop.pk  
Sindh Small Industries Corporation www.ssic.gos.pk  
Pakistan Horticulture Development and Export Company (PHDEC) www.phdec.org.pk  
Punjab Vocational Training Council (PVTC) www.pvtc.gop.pk  
Technical Education and Vocational Training Authority (TEVTA) www.tevta.org  
Pakistan Readymade Garment Technical Training Institute www.prgmea.org/prgtti/  
Livestock & Dairy Development Department, Government of 
Punjab. 

www.livestockpunjab.gov.pk  

Punjab Industrial Estates (PIE) www.pie.com.pk 
Faisalabad Industrial Estate Development and Management 
Company (FIEDMC)  

www.fiedmc.com.pk  
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13. ANNEXURES 

12.1 Income Statement  
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12.2 Balance Sheet 

 

 
 



PFS      Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell Manufacturing Unit) 
 

June 2021                           

19 

1.3 Cash Flow Statement 

 



PFS      Hard Gelatin Capsule Shell Manufacturing Unit) 
 

June 2021                           

20 

 
 

14. KEY ASSUMPTIONS 

13.1 Cost of goods sold per unit of production 

Description Details 

Cost of goods sold Rs.1100 per 1000units packet 
Growth rate per annum 5% 

  
 

13.2 Production related Assumptions 

Description Details 

Production capacity per year 180,000 
Sale price per unit in year 1 1430 
Sales growth rate per annum 10% 

Production capacity utilization in first year 65% 
Production capacity utilization growth rate 5% 
Maximum production capacity utilization 95% 

 
 

13.3 Cash flow assumption 
 

Description Details 
Accounts receivable cycle (In days) 30 

Accounts payable cycle (In days) 30 

 

13.4 FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

Description Details 
Wage growth rate 10% 

CGS price growth rate 5% 
Inflation rate 10% 

Interest rate on long term debt 16% 
Project debt ratio 50% 

Project equity ratio 50% 
Debt payments per year 1 
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REGIONAL OFFICE 

PUNJAB 
REGIONAL OFFICE 

SINDH 
REGIONAL OFFICE  
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REGIONAL OFFICE 

BALOCHISTAN 
 

3rd Floor, Building No. 3,  

Aiwan-e-Iqbal Complex, 
Egerton Road Lahore, 

Tel: (042) 111-111-456 

Fax: (042) 36304926-7 
helpdesk.punjab@smeda.org.pk 

5TH Floor, Bahria 

Complex II, M.T. Khan Road, 

Karachi. 

Tel: (021) 111-111-456 
Fax: (021) 5610572 

helpdesk-khi@smeda.org.pk 

Ground Floor 

State Life Building 

The Mall, Peshawar. 

Tel: (091) 9213046-47 
Fax: (091) 286908 

helpdesk-pew@smeda.org.pk 

Bungalow No. 15-A 

Chaman Housing Scheme 

Airport Road, Quetta. 

Tel: (081) 831623, 831702 
Fax: (081) 831922 

helpdesk-qta@smeda.org.pk 
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